



making sure your voice counts

Our Voice Citizens' Panel

Survey on the use of digital technologies for healthcare improvement, using and sharing personal health and social care information and access to healthcare professionals other than doctors

Third Survey Report, January 2018





© Healthcare Improvement Scotland 2018

Published January 2018

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-Non commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International Licence. This allows for the copy and redistribution of this document as long as Healthcare Improvement Scotland is fully acknowledged and given credit. The material must not be remixed, transformed or built upon in any way. To view a copy of this licence, visit <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ncnd/4.0/</u>

www.scottishhealthcouncil.org

Contents

Foreword	5
Acknowledgements	6
Executive summary	7
Chapter 1: Introduction and context	11
Chapter 2: Digital health and care	15
Chapter 3: Use of information: Personal	28
Chapter 4: Use of information: Research and development	36
Chapter 5: Community health and care services	44
Chapter 6: Receptionists in GP practices	54
Chapter 7: Local optician services	58
Chapter 8: Next steps	60
Appendix 1: Questionnaire	62
Appendix 2: Update for Panel members	77
Appendix 3: Response profile	78
Appendix 4: Citizens' Panels	83
Appendix 5: Interpreting results	84
Figure 4. Lies of disited company isotical (information deviage (multiple sources)	45

Figure 1: Use of digital communication/ information devices (multiple response)	. 15
Figure 2: Reasons for using digital communication/ information devices (open-ended	
response themes)	. 16
Figure 3: Frequency of use of digital communication tools	. 18
Figure 4: Confidence in using digital communication technology	. 19
Figure 5: Perception of benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to	
access health and social care services	. 20
Figure 6: Examples given of benefits to using digital communication tools and technologie	s
to access health and social care services (open-ended response themes)	. 20
Figure 7: Perception of disadvantages or difficulties in using digital communication tools and	nd
technologies to access health and social care services	. 22
Figure 8: Examples given of disadvantages to using digital communication tools and	
technologies to access health and social care services (open-ended response themes)	. 22
Figure 9: Usefulness of sharing health and wellbeing information from devices or apps with	h
healthcare professionals or care providers	. 24
Figure 10: Comments made about the usefulness of sharing health and wellbeing	
information from devices or apps with healthcare professionals or care providers (open-	
ended response themes)	. 24
Figure 11: Awareness and use of health and social care services in Scotland	. 27
Figure 12: Opinions on the sharing of information between health and social care	
professionals who are involved in your care, in order to support your ongoing healthcare	. 28
Figure 13: Opinions on whether professionals should be able to share medical information	۱
with other health and social care professionals who are involved in your care, in order to	
support ongoing healthcare (open-ended response themes)	. 29

Figure 14: Trust in health and social care professionals in Scotland to manage your
information securely to support your care
Figure 15: Reasons given for opinions on how much Panel members trust health and social
care professionals in Scotland to manage their information securely to support their care
(open-ended response themes)
Figure 16: How comfortable Panel members feel about researchers accessing anonymised
health and social care information from the Scottish population, in order to support and
inform design and delivery of health and care services
Figure 17: Benefits to sharing anonymised health and social care information in the context
of service improvement and public health
Figure 18: Reasons given for opinions on the benefits to sharing anonymised health and
social care information in the context of service improvement and public health (open-ended
response themes)
Figure 19: Negative consequences to sharing anonymised health and social care information
in the context of service improvement and public health
Figure 20: Reasons given for opinions on the negative consequences to sharing anonymised
health and social care information in the context of service improvement and public health
(open-ended response themes)
Figure 21: Availability of health and social care professionals available at GP practices 44
Figure 22: Willingness to take an appointment with another healthcare professional other
than a doctor45
Figure 23: Reasons for opinions on willingness to take an appointment with other healthcare
professionals other than a doctor (open-ended response themes)45
Figure 24: Willingness to go directly to other healthcare professionals in the future if happy
with treatment received
Figure 25: Reasons for opinions on willingness to go directly to other healthcare
professionals in the future if happy with treatment received. (open-ended response themes)
Figure 26: Likelihood of accepting an appointment with another health or social care
professional if understood more about the role51
Figure 27: Reasons given for not being more likely to accept an appointment with another
health or social care professional if understood more about the role (open-ended response
themes)51
Figure 28: How comfortable Panel members feel sharing basic information with GP Practice
Receptionist about reasons for appointment
Figure 29: Reasons given for feeling comfortable/ uncomfortable sharing basic information
with GP Practice Receptionist about reasons for appointment (open-ended response
themes)
Figure 30: Awareness of various local optician services available in Scotland
Figure 31: Use of various local optician services available in Scotland59

Foreword

Welcome to the report of the third Our Voice Citizens' Panel for Scotland.

The Our Voice Citizens' Panel is one way that health and social care support services in Scotland can listen to the views of the Scottish public – and having listened, make improvements to the services they provide.

I would like to thank the individuals who have volunteered to be part of the Panel, who together make up a representative 'slice' of the population of Scotland.



This survey has asked questions about the use of digital health and care technologies, how personal health information is shared and managed and about the use of depersonalised health information for research and development. It also enquired as to public perceptions of availability and access to healthcare professionals other than GPs and as to the role of GP practice receptionists, and awareness of local optician services.

The Our Voice framework promotes engagement at three levels:

- Individual My Voice
- Local Community Voice, and
- National Voice.

There are Our Voice initiatives at all these levels and the Our Voice Citizen Panel is part of the national voice gaining the views of the Scottish public.

Another initiative is the recently launched Our Voice website that not only provides information about Our Voice but offers polls, surveys and links to ongoing consultations about health and social care (<u>www.ourvoice.scot</u>). The Our Voice Citizens' Panel reports, and all the questions used in previous Our Voice Citizens' Panel surveys can be found on the website.

Once again, thanks to the members of the public who have volunteered to be part of the Panel and provided their views and experiences.

I hope you enjoy reading this report.

Pam Whittle, CBE Chair, Scottish Health Council

Acknowledgements

My thanks to the Panel members who have taken the time to respond to the third Our Voice Citizens' Panel survey for health and social care. We value you sharing your views, opinions and experiences of a wide range of services, and your help to shape policies and future improvements to services.

Thanks to everyone involved in developing the Our Voice Citizens' Panel and in the work involved in developing questions, disseminating the survey and analysing the results as well as producing this report. This includes the Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland (The ALLIANCE), and the Scottish Government's Primary Care Division, Digital Health and Care Division, and their Directorate for Healthcare Quality and Improvement.

Particular thanks are due to our consultants Research Resource and to the Social Researcher in Scottish Health Council, Wendy Brown, who manages the Citizens' Panel Research.

Best wishes

Helen McFarlane

Our Voice Programme Director

Executive summary

What is a Citizens' Panel?

A Citizens' Panel is a large, demographically representative group of citizens regularly used to assess public preferences and opinions. A Citizens' Panel aims to be a representative, consultative body of residents. They are typically used by statutory agencies, particularly local authorities and their partners, to identify local priorities and to consult the public on specific issues.

Background and context

The Our Voice Citizens' Panel was established to be nationally representative and has been developed at a size that will allow statistically robust analysis of the views of the Panel members at a Scotland-wide level. At present there are 1,216 Panel members from across all 32 local authority areas. Panel members were randomly selected from the general population and invited to join the Panel. Some targeted recruitment also took place in order to ensure that a representative Panel was recruited. This is the first time a national Citizens' Panel of this nature, focusing on health and social care issues, has been established in Scotland.

This report details the findings from the third full Panel survey which included questions on the use of digital technologies for healthcare improvement, using and sharing personal health and social care information and access to healthcare professionals other than doctors.

A total of 496 responses (41% response rate) were received, either by post, email or by telephone. This level of return provides data accurate to +/-4.4%¹ at the overall Panel level. All comparisons that are made in this report are statistically significant, unless otherwise stated.

This executive summary details the key findings from the research. More detailed information on the profile of responses can be found in Appendix 3.

Key findings

Digital health and care

- The survey opened by asking Panel members about their use of various digital communication and information devices. The majority of respondents used a mobile or smart phone (91%), a desktop or laptop computer (86%) or a tablet (62%). A small proportion of respondents used wearable technology such as a smart watch or Fitbit and only 1% of Panel members did not use any of these things.
- Digital communication tools that were used most regularly (at least once a day) included email (72%), the internet (59%) and social media (51%). On the other hand, web-based communications such as Skype were used less regularly with only 16% stating they use this at least once a day and 41% stating they never use this.

¹ Based upon a 50% estimate at the 95% level of confidence

- All Panel members were asked to rate on a scale of 1 to 10 "how confident they feel using digital communication technology" (where 1 was not confident at all and 10 was very confident). Just under 4 in 10 Panel members (37%) said they felt very confident (i.e. gave a rating of 10 out of 10), and on the other hand, only 5% said they were not at all confident (i.e. gave a rating of 1 out of 10).
- The vast majority of Panel members (85%) believed there were benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services.
- Just under three quarters of Panel members (74%) said there were disadvantages in using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services.
- Half of Panel members (50%) felt it would be useful to share health and wellbeing information from their devices or apps with their health professionals or care providers, 14% said this would not be useful and 36% were unsure.
- The survey included a question which asked Panel members about their (or their family's) use of digital health and social care services in Scotland. Services which have been used most by Panel members were NHS 24 (41%), GP surgery website for information (31%), and online repeat prescriptions at their GP practice (29%).
- Services that had not been used but where awareness was highest included NHS 24 (56%), Technology Enabled Care (45%) and health and wellbeing apps (45%).
- Video access to services (77%), Care Information Scotland (69%), remote monitoring of long-term conditions (62%) and NHS Inform (59%) were services which had the highest proportion of respondents unaware of their existence.

Use of information: Personal

- Over 8 in 10 Panel members (83%) believed that "professionals should with the appropriate safeguards be able to share your medical information with other health and social care professionals who are involved in your care, in order to support your ongoing healthcare." On the other hand, 5% disagreed with this statement and 12% were unsure.
- All Panel members were asked to rate on a scale of 1 to 10 "how much they trust health and social care professionals in Scotland to manage their information securely to support their care" (where 1 was no trust at all and 10 was complete trust). Just under 20% gave a score of 10, i.e. said they completely trusted health and social care professionals in this respect compared to just 1% who said they had no trust at all.

Use of information: Research and development

- On a scale of 1 to 10 (where 1 was very uncomfortable and 10 was completely comfortable) respondents were asked how comfortable they felt about researchers accessing anonymised or de-personalised health and social care information from the Scottish population, in order to support and inform design and delivery of health and care services. 34% said they felt completely comfortable in this respect, compared to just 4% who said they felt very uncomfortable.
- Eight in ten Panel members (80%) agreed that in the context of service improvement and public health, there were benefits to sharing health and social care information that has been made anonymous. On the other hand, 5% disagreed with this statement and 15% were unsure.

Community health and care services

- The vast majority of Panel members (97%) said that GP Practice Nurses were available at their practice. Just under 6 in 10 Panel members (59%) said Phlebotomists were available at their GP practice and 37% said that Midwives were available.
- Panel members also indicated which services were unavailable at their GP practice. Pharmacist (48%) and Physiotherapist services (30%) had the highest level of reported unavailability.
- Panel members were most likely to be unaware of the availability of Health Care Support Workers (67%), Occupational Therapists (64%) and Mental Health Specialist Nurses (63%).
- Six in ten Panel members (60%) agreed that they would take an appointment with another healthcare professional if they were offered this when phoning their GP practice for an appointment with a doctor, 10% said they would not take the appointment and 29% were unsure.
- The vast majority of Panel members (78%) said they would consider going directly to other healthcare professionals if they had been happy with the treatment they received, 8% said they would not consider going directly to the other healthcare professional and 14% were unsure.
- Three quarters of Panel members (75%) said they would be more likely to accept an appointment with another health or social care professional if they understood more about their role, 8% said they would not be more likely to do this and 16% were unsure.

Receptionists in GP Practices

• Over 6 in 10 Panel members (63%) said they would feel very comfortable (19%) or comfortable (44%) sharing some basic information with their GP Practice Receptionist about why they need an appointment. On the other hand, 24% said they would feel uncomfortable and a further 13% very uncomfortable in doing this.

Local optician services

- Panel members were most likely to be aware that their local optician can give them advice and treatment on free eye tests (98%), free eye care prescriptions (88%), blurred or double vision (86%) and headaches when reading or watching television (80%).
- On the other hand, respondents were least likely to be aware that their local optician can offer advice and treatment for cysts and styes (49% aware) and if they had something in their eye (57% aware).
- Panel members were provided with the same list of optician services and were asked whether they had ever asked an optician for advice or treatment regarding any of these. Use of these services was highest regarding free eye tests (87%) and free eye care prescriptions (55%). On the other hand, very few respondents had asked an optician for advice or treatment regarding cysts and styes (3%), squints in children (6%) or if they had something in their eye (12%).

Chapter 1: Introduction and context

Background and context

Research Resource was commissioned by the Scottish Health Council as part of 'Our Voice' – a partnership involving Healthcare Improvement Scotland, public partners, the Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland (the ALLIANCE), the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities (COSLA) and the Scottish Government - to recruit a nationally representative Our Voice Citizens' Panel.

The Our Voice Citizens' Panel was established to be nationally representative and has been developed at a size that will allow statistically robust analysis of the views of the Panel members at a Scotland-wide level. The Panel is currently made up of 1,216 people spread across each and every Integration Authority and NHS territorial Board across Scotland. Panel members were randomly selected from the general population and invited to join the Panel. Some targeted recruitment also took place in order to ensure that a representative Panel was recruited. The Panel has been designed to be broadly representative of the Scottish population.

This is the first time a national Citizens' Panel of this nature, focusing on health and social care issues, has been established in Scotland.

This report details the findings from the third full Panel survey which aimed to gather the views of the general public to help improve health care services and social care services in Scotland.

Questionnaire design

The first of seven sections of the questionnaire asked Panel members for their views on the **use of digital information and digital health and care technologies**².

The next two sections of the questionnaire asked Panel members for their opinions on **how their personal information is shared and managed** by GP practices and NHS National Services Scotland, and about **the use of information for research and development purposes**.

The survey included a number of questions on Panel members' **perceptions of access to healthcare professionals other than doctors**, for example; which professionals are available at their GP practice, how happy they would be to see another healthcare professional instead of their doctor, and about any further information that would be useful in affecting their decision to take an appointment with other health and social care professionals.

The subsequent section of the questionnaire aimed to understand Panel members' perceptions of **receptionists in GP services** and how comfortable they would feel sharing basic information with them about why they may need an appointment.

² <u>www.ehealth.nhs.scot</u> – for more information on the integrated Digital Health and Social Care Strategy 2017-22

In the next section of the questionnaire, Panel members were asked about their awareness and use of local optician services.

The final section of the questionnaire aimed to **update the personal information held on Panel members** to ensure that we have an accurate and up-to-date record of the representativeness of the current Panel. Information that was collected included, gender description, sexual orientation, religion or beliefs and regarding long term physical or mental health condition or illnesses. This information is not reported within this report, however demographic information on the panel profile can be found in Appendix 3.

A copy of the final questionnaire is available in Appendix 1. The update for Panel members that was also provided to Panel members detailing the findings from the last survey can also be found in Appendix 2.

Response rates and profile

The Our Voice Citizens' Panel at the time of writing this report has a total of 1,216 members. The third Our Voice Citizens' Panel survey was sent by email on 4 September 2017 to all 975 Panel members with email addresses. On 8 September 2017 survey packs were sent to all Panel members without email addresses and those from whom a bounce back email message was received. A reminder mailing was sent by email on the 11 September 2017 to those who had not yet responded by email. On 15 September 2017 additional postal surveys were delivered to Panel members who had not responded to the email survey. A final email reminder was sent on 3 October 2017 in an attempt to boost the response rate from those with email addresses.

Through a combination of these methods a total of 420 responses were received to the survey. Postal responses continued to be accepted up until the 31 October 2017. A detailed analysis of the response profile identified that the survey was under-represented in terms of younger Panel members, defined as younger members aged 44 and under, and males. This was consistent with the last two Our Voice surveys and has also been the case in many local authority Citizens' Panels. It was decided that a targeted telephone boost be undertaken in an attempt to increase the response from these under-represented groups. A total of 76 telephone interviews were completed between the 23 September and 1 November 2017. This took the final response up to 496, a 41% response rate. This level of return provides data accurate to +/-4.4% (based upon a 50% estimate at the 95% level of confidence) at the overall Panel level.

Despite the attempts of the telephone boost, younger respondents and males were still under-represented. To ensure the data was representative by age and gender, survey data was weighted to adjust for this imbalance.

Full information on the response profile achieved and weighting can be found in Appendix 3.

Further information on Citizens' Panels can be found in Appendix 4.

Interpreting results

The results of the research are based upon a sample survey, therefore all figures quoted are estimates rather than precise percentages. The reader should interpret the data with statistical significance in mind. It should be noted that analysis is statistically robust at the overall Panel level to +/-4.4%. All comparisons that are made in this report are statistically significant, unless otherwise stated.

Analyses of subgroups of the survey population will be less robust and should be treated with caution.

When reporting the data in this document, in general, percentages in tables have been rounded to the nearest whole number. Columns may not add to 100% because of rounding or where multiple responses to a question are possible. The total number of respondents to each question is shown either as 'Base' or 'n=xxx' in the tables or charts. Where the base or 'n' is less than the total number of respondents, this is because respondents may be 'routed' passed some questions if they are not applicable. The percentages reported are weighted percentages.

All tables have a descriptive and numerical base, showing the population or population subgroup examined in it. While all results have been calculated using weighted data, the bases shown give both the unweighted and weighted counts.

Open-ended responses have been coded into response categories in order that frequency analysis or cross tabulations can be undertaken of these questions. The process of coding open-ended responses begins with reading through the responses to get a feel for potential response categories. A list of thematic response categories is then created. These are known as 'codes'. The coding process then involves assigning each response to a code. Responses can be coded into multiple categories where more than one point is communicated. Response categories must be clear and easy for anyone reading the analysis to understand. To check the coding of open-ended responses, 10% of all responses are validated by a second person to check for any issues or errors.

Report structure

This report details the key findings from the third full Our Voice Survey. The report is structured as follows:

- Chapter 2: Digital health and care
- Chapter 3: Use of information: Personal
- Chapter 4: Use of information: Research and Development
- Chapter 5: Community health and care services
- Chapter 6: Receptionists in GP practices
- Chapter 7: Local optician services
- Chapter 8: Next steps
- Appendix 1: Questionnaire

- Appendix 2: Update for Panel members on previous survey results
- Appendix 3: Response profile
- Appendix 4: About Citizens' Panels
- Appendix 5: Interpreting results

Chapter 2: Digital health and care

Introduction

The Scottish Government is developing a new Digital Health and Social Care Strategy^{3,} which is summarised in the draft vision statement below:

"As a citizen of Scotland, I have access to the digital information, tools and services I need to help maintain and improve my health and wellbeing. I expect my health and social care information to be captured electronically, integrated and shared securely to assist service staff and carers that need to see it, and that digital technology and data will be used appropriately and innovatively to help plan and improve services, enable research and economic development, and ultimately improve outcomes for everyone."

Views are being sought about the use of digital information and digital health and care technologies. This will help the Scottish Government to understand whether the above draft vision is right. This will inform further discussion during the development of the Digital Health and Social Care Strategy.

Use of digital communication/ information devices

The survey opened by asking Panel members about their use of various digital communication and information devices. As can be seen below, the majority of respondents used a mobile or smart phone (91%), a desktop or laptop computer (86%) or a tablet (62%). A small proportion of respondents used wearable technology such as smart watch or Fitbit and only 1% of Panel members did not use any of these things.



Figure 1: Use of digital communication/ information devices (multiple response)

Base: Unweighted, n=466; Weighted, n=471; NB less than 1% used 'other' devices, these included digital radio, Sonos and digital hearing aids.

³ <u>www.ehealth.nhs.scot</u> – for more information on the integrated Digital Health and Social Care Strategy 2017-22

Following on from this, Panel members were asked for their reasons for using these devices. A total of 435 respondents provided comments to this question. The openended responses received have been coded into common themes and are listed in the table below. Over half of Panel members who answered this question said they used digital communication and information devices for communication purposes, for example, phone calls or emails, 32% said they use them to access the internet, for information or news, and 22% use these devices for work purposes.

Figure 2: Reasons for using digital communication/ information devices (open-ended i	response theme
Q1a What are your reasons for using these devices?	
Base: Unweighted, n=435; Weighted, n=440	%
Communication e.g. phone calls/ email	51%
To access the internet/ for information or news	32%
For work purposes	22%
For entertainment/ leisure purposes e.g. TV, reading, games	21%
Social networking e.g. Facebook/ Twitter	16%
Convenience	15%
Online shopping	9%
Fitness/ tracking health	7%
Online banking	4%
For studying/ e-learning	3%
Other	5%

for using digital communication/information devices (open-ended response th ---s)

Some examples of the open-ended responses provided by Panel members to describe their reasons for using digital communication and information devices are shown below:



Use of digital communication tools

Following on from this, respondents were asked how often they used a range of digital communication tools. Digital communication tools that were used most regularly (at least once a day) included email (72%), the internet (59%) and social media (51%). On the other hand, web-based communications such as Skype were used less regularly with only 16% stating they use this at least once a day and 41% stating they never use this.

Figure 3: Frequency of use of digital communication tools



NB The first base figure provided in the chart above is the unweighted base, and this is followed by the weighted base.

Confidence in using digital communication technology

All Panel members were asked to rate on a scale of 1 to 10 "how confident do you feel using digital communication technology" (where 1 was not confident at all and 10 was very confident). Just under 4 in 10 Panel members (37%) said they felt very confident (i.e. gave a rating of 10 out of 10), and on the other hand, only 5% said they were not at all confident (i.e. gave a rating of 1 out of 10). The mean score given to this question was 7.84, indicating a high degree of confidence in the use of digital technologies.



Figure 4: Confidence in using digital communication technology

Base: Unweighted, n=480; Weighted, n=482

Benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services

The vast majority of Panel members (85%) believed there were benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services.

Figure 5: Perception of benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services



Base: Unweighted, n=477; Weighted, n=479

Where respondents answered yes to this question, they were asked to provide more detail on what they considered to be the benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services. A total of 372 respondents provided comments to this question. The open-ended responses received have been coded into common themes and are listed in the table below. The main benefits were speed and easier access to services (45%), improving access to health and social care services (31%) and to be able to access further information and/ or support on health conditions or services (30%).

Figure 6: Examples given of benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services (open-ended response themes)

Q4a If Yes, please list these benefits:	
Base: Unweighted, n=372; Weighted, n=378	%
Speedier access to services	45%
Improved access to services e.g. more accessible for rural areas/ 24/7 access/ convenient/ can access from home	31%
Further information and/ or support on health conditions/ services	30%
To make appointments	10%
To order prescriptions/ repeat prescriptions	4%
Taking pressure off of GP surgeries/ hospitals/ free up resources	4%
Inexpensive/ cost savings	3%
Other	5%

Some examples of the open-ended responses provided by Panel members to describe the benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services are shown below:



Disadvantages to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services

Just under three quarters of Panel members (74%) said there were disadvantages in using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services.

Figure 7: Perception of disadvantages or difficulties in using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services



Base: Unweighted, n=474; Weighted, n=476

Where respondents answered yes to this question, they were asked to list the difficulties or disadvantages of using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services. A total of 341 respondents chose to answer this question. Again, the open-ended responses have been coded into common themes for analysis purposes. Over three in ten comments (31%) were where respondents had concerns about lack of access to the internet or not being able to use the internet, 23% felt that having no human contact was a disadvantage and 20% said the risk of misdiagnosis or information being misunderstood or misinterpreted was a problem.

Figure 8: Examples given of disadvantages to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services (open-ended response themes)

Q5a Do you think there are disadvantages or difficulties in using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services? If yes, please list these difficulties and disadvantages.	
Base: Unweighted, n=341; Weighted, n=347	%
Not everyone has access/ confident in using digital communication/ older people/ disabled people may not be able to use it	31%
No human contact/ less personal	23%
Misdiagnosis/ self diagnosis is dangerous/ information being misunderstood/ misinterpreted	20%
Issues re data security/ hacking/ data protection	20%
Issues re internet connection speeds e.g. rural areas	8%
System crash/ technical faults	7%
Affordability/ cost to access services	2%
Other	5%

Examples of the open-ended responses provided by Panel members to describe what they believe to be disadvantages to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services are shown below:



Sharing health and wellbeing information from devices/apps with health professionals or care providers

Half of Panel members (50%) felt it would be useful to share health and wellbeing information from their devices or apps with their health professionals or care providers, 14% said this would not be useful and 36% were unsure.





Base: Unweighted, n=478; Weighted, n=480

All respondents were asked to explain their reasons for their answer. A total of 389 respondents chose to answer this question, and the open-ended responses have been coded into common themes for analysis purposes. Positive reasons described for sharing their health and wellbeing information tended to be where respondents felt that more information would help health professionals or care providers make decisions or give them a full picture of treatment history of the patient (35%).

On the other hand, more negative comments or concerns about sharing information included confidentiality or data security concerns (18%), where respondents felt it would depend on the information, what would be involved or who would have access (15%) and where Panel members preferred face-to-face contact (6%).

Q6a Do you feel it would be useful to share health and wellbeing information from your devices/ apps with your health professionals or care providers? Please tell is why you feel this way.	
Base: Unweighted, n=389; Weighted, n=395	%
More information would help health professionals/ care providers make decisions/ deal with issues better/ give them a full picture of treatment history	35%
Confidentiality/ data security concerns	18%
Would depend on the information/ what would be involved/ who would have access	15%
Time saving/ more efficient for health professionals/ care providers	13%
I prefer face to face contact	6%
Would reduce the need for appointments	6%
Information not accurate/ prone to errors	4%
Would be helpful for people with mental health issues who find it easier to communicate by text/ email/ those who aren't able to leave house	1%
Information overload for professionals	1%
Other	6%

Below are some examples of the comments provided by Panel members who said it *would be useful* to share health and wellbeing information from their devices or apps with health professionals or care providers:



Some examples of the comments provided by Panel members who said it *would not be useful* or were *unsure if it would be useful* to share health and wellbeing information from their devices or apps with health professionals or care providers are shown below:



Awareness and use of health and social care services in Scotland

The survey included a question which asked Panel members about their (or their family's) experience of digital health and social care services in Scotland. Services which have been used most by Panel members were NHS 24 (41%), GP surgery website for information (31%), and online repeat prescriptions at the GP practice (29%).

Services that had not been used but where awareness was highest included NHS 24 (56%), Technology Enabled Care (45%), and health and wellbeing apps (45%).

Video access to services (77%), Care Information Scotland⁴ (69%) and remote monitoring of long term conditions (62%) were services which had the highest proportion of respondents being unaware.





NB The first base figure provided in the chart above is the unweighted base, and this is followed by the weighted base.

⁴ In our first panel survey (distributed November 2016 – January 2017), panel members were asked about their awareness of Care Information Scotland as a source of information on care. Only 13% of respondents indicated that they were aware of this service. In the current survey (distributed September – November 2017), an increased proportion of panel members reported being aware of Care Information Scotland services. Here, 39% of respondents were aware of, or had used this service. Due to prior notification of this service, the awareness figure reported in the current report (39%) may not be indicative of wider 'public awareness'.

Chapter 3: Use of information: Personal

Introduction

When you register with a GP practice in Scotland, you consent to your personal information being passed to NHS National Services Scotland where it is verified and held in a secure data centre on the Community Health Index (CHI). This information is used to register you, transfer your medical records between GP practices, make payments to GP practices for medical services provided, and to process and issue medical cards, medical exemption certificates and entitlement cards.

The survey aimed to find out Panel members' views regarding the use of personal information to support their ongoing health care.

Opinions on the sharing of information between health and social care professionals

Over 8 in 10 Panel members (83%) believed that "professionals should – with the appropriate safeguards – be able to share your medical information with other health and social care professionals who are involved in your care, in order to support your ongoing healthcare." On the other hand, 5% disagreed with this statement and 12% were unsure.

Figure 12: Opinions on the sharing of information between health and social care professionals who are involved in your care, in order to support your ongoing healthcare



Following on from this, Panel members were asked to provide their reasons for their answer. A total of 391 Panel members provided further comments to this question and their reasons were coded into common themes and the responses shown in the table below. Positive comments about sharing information between health and social care professionals were where Panel members believed this would ensure the best or more effective treatment options for patients (25%), would help professionals identify the full picture in advance of providing treatment options (19%) and would result in time saving or more efficient treatment (12%).

On the other hand, comments made by those who disagreed with the sharing of information between health and social care professionals were where Panel members expressed concerns about knowing who would have access to information and about the type of information being shared (22%) and issues regarding confidentiality or data security (9%).

Figure 13: Opinions on whether professionals should be able to share medical information with other health and social care professionals who are involved in your care, in order to support ongoing healthcare (open-ended response themes)

Q8a Do you think that professionals should - with the appropriate safeguards - be able to your medical information with other health and social care professionals who are involved care, in order to support your ongoing healthcare? Please tell us why you feel this way?	
Base: Unweighted, n=391; Weighted, n=393	%
To ensure the best/ most effective treatment options for patients/ better care/ outcomes	25%
Would need to know who and what information is being shared	22%
So all professionals can identify the full picture in advance of providing treatment options	19%
Time saving/ more efficient/ quicker treatment	12%
A more joined up approach/ integrated services	10%
So patients don't need to repeat their treatment history at every appointment/ avoids duplicate information	9%
Issues re confidentiality/ data security	9%
Seems sensible/ makes sense	7%
Other	1%

Some examples of the comments provided by Panel members who agreed "professionals should – with the appropriate safeguards – be able to share your medical information with other health and social care professionals who are involved in your care, in order to support your ongoing healthcare" are shown below:



The following comments were provided by Panel members who *disagreed or were unsure* whether professionals should be able to share medical information with other health and social care professionals who are involved in their care, in order to support their ongoing healthcare:



Trust in health and social care professionals in Scotland to manage health information securely

All Panel members were asked to rate on a scale of 1 to 10 "how much do you trust health and social care professionals in Scotland to manage your information securely to support your care" (where 1 was no trust at all and 10 was complete trust). Nineteen per cent gave a score of 10, i.e. said they completely trusted health and social care professionals in this respect, compared to just 1% who said they had no trust at all. The mean score for this question was 7.25, meaning that Panel members largely trust health and social care professionals to manage their information securely to support their care.

Figure 14: Trust in health and social care professionals in Scotland to manage your information securely to support your care



Base: Unweighted, n=481; Weighted, n=482

A total of 319 respondents provided further details regarding their response to this question. The open-ended responses were coded into common themes for analysis purposes and are listed in the following table. Positive comments were generally where Panel members believed health professionals and care providers to be trustworthy professionals (18%), that they do a good job, online security seems solid and that they have confidence in them (12%) and where they have no reason to think otherwise (7%). On the other hand, more negative comments were in relation to past experience of cyber attacks and a lack of confidence in data being kept secure (33%) and that all systems are subject to the risk of hacking, no system is 100% secure and that human error is always possible (20%).

Figure 15: Reasons given for opinions on how much Panel members trust health and social care professionals in Scotland to manage their information securely to support their care (open-ended response themes)

Q9 On a scale from 1 to 10: How much do you trust health and social care professionals in Scotland to manage your information securely to support your care? Please tell us why you feel this way.	
Base: Unweighted, n=319; Weighted, n=321	%
Mistakes have been made in the past/ my own experience/ lack of confidence in data being kept secure	33%
All systems are subject to the risk of hacking/ cyber attacks/ systems are never 100% secure/ human error always possible	20%
They are trustworthy professionals	18%
They do an excellent job/ online security seems solid/ I have confidence in them	12%
Not sure/ have no experience	12%
I have no reason to think otherwise	7%
All staff require full training in data security	3%
Other	3%

Some examples of the comments provided by Panel members who gave positive comments about their trust in health and social care providers in Scotland to manage their information securely to support their care are shown below:



The following comments were provided by Panel members who gave negative comments about their trust in health and social care providers in Scotland to manage their information securely to support their care:



Chapter 4: Use of information: Research and development

Introduction

NHS National Services Scotland shares de-personalised or anonymised information about you within NHSScotland to assist in the provision and improvement of NHS services and the health of the public. When they do this, they make sure that the information that identifies you as a person and the information about your health are kept separate or are made anonymous, removing any details which could identify you as an individual. Health condition and treatment information which could identify you is not used for research purposes unless you have explicitly consented to this. Such data and information from the Scottish population can help to highlight where improvements could be made, or identify where resources could be targeted, for example, research into vaccinations, prevalence of different conditions, time intervals between seeing a GP and diagnosis/treatment, etc.

This set of questions was designed to understand Panel members' views on the use of health information for research.

Access to anonymised/de-personalised health and social care information from the Scottish population

On a scale of 1 to 10, respondents were asked to rate how comfortable they felt about researchers accessing anonymised or de-personalised health and social care information from the Scottish population, in order to support and inform design and delivery of health and care services (where 1 was very uncomfortable and 10 was very comfortable). Over a third of panel members (34%) said they felt completely comfortable in this respect (i.e. gave a score of 10 out of 10), compared to just 4% who said they felt very uncomfortable (i.e. gave a score of 1 out of 10). The mean score for this question was 7.64, meaning that Panel members are largely comfortable with researchers accessing anonymised health and social care information.
Figure 16: How comfortable Panel members feel about researchers accessing anonymised health and social care information from the Scottish population, in order to support and inform design and delivery of health and care services



Base: Unweighted, n=479; Weighted, n=480

Benefits to sharing anonymised health and social care information

Eight in ten Panel members (80%) agreed that in the context of service improvement and public health, there were benefits to sharing health and social care information that has been made anonymous. On the other hand, 5% disagreed with this statement and 15% were unsure.

Figure 17: Benefits to sharing anonymised health and social care information in the context of service improvement and public health



Base: Unweighted, n=478; Weighted, n=480

A total of 343 respondents provided further details regarding their response to this question. The open-ended responses were coded into common themes for analysis purposes and are listed below. Where Panel members provided positive comments these were largely where Panel members believed that all information sharing was useful and can improve services or treatment (59%) and that it is useful in identifying trends, problems and solutions (23%). On the other hand, more negative comments regarding access to anonymised or depersonalised health and social care information from the Scottish population were generally where Panel members had concerns about how data will be used and confidentiality concerns (19%).

Figure 18: Reasons given for opinions on the benefits to sharing anonymised health and social care information in the context of service improvement and public health (open-ended response themes)

Q11 In the context of service improvement and public health, do you think there are bene sharing health and social care information that has been made anonymous? Please tell us why you feel this way?	efits to
Base: Unweighted, n=343; Weighted, n=351	%
All information sharing is useful/ can improve services and care/ treatment	59%
Useful in identifying trends/ the big picture/ for planning purposes/ identifying problems and solutions	23%
Would need strict guidelines how data will be used/ assurances that confidentiality/ that data is anonymous	19%
Not sure how this would help/ no benefits in doing this/ not helpful	8%
Larger datasets improve the accuracy of any conclusions	4%
People are more likely to share information/ be honest if anonymous	1%
Other	2%

Some examples of the comments provided by Panel members who agreed there are benefits to sharing health and social care information that has been made anonymous are shown below:



The following comments were made by Panel members who disagreed or were unsure of the benefits to sharing health and social care information that has been made anonymous:



Negative consequences to sharing anonymised health and social care information

Subsequently, Panel members were asked if they felt there were any negative consequences to sharing health and care information that has been made anonymous. Over 3 in 10 Panel members (31%) answered 'yes' to this question, 39% said no and the remaining 30% were unsure.

Figure 19: Negative consequences to sharing anonymised health and social care information in the context of service improvement and public health



Base: Unweighted, n=471; Weighted, n=470

Following on from this, respondents were asked to provide their reasons for their answer to this question. A total of 368 respondents provided further details and the open-ended responses were coded into common themes for analysis purposes and are listed below. Just under 3 in 10 responses were where Panel members expressed concerns about data security and confidentiality (29%), 17% said that sharing anonymous data could lead to misinterpretation of data and may not give the full picture. On the other hand, 22% of respondents felt that the sharing of anonymous data was a positive thing and could not think of any negative consequences.

 Figure 20: Reasons given for opinions on the negative consequences to sharing anonymised health and social care information in the context of service improvement and public health (open-ended response themes)

 Q12 In the context of service improvement and public health, do you think there are negative consequences to sharing health and care information that has been made anonymous? Please tell us why you feel this way.

 Base: Unweighted, n=268; Weighted, n=275
 %

 As long as data is secure/ assurances of confidentiality
 29%

 No, think it is a positive thing/ will be of benefit/ can't think of anything negative
 22%

 Misinterpretation of data/ may not give full picture
 17%

Don't know/ not had enough experience to answer	16%
Depends how accurate the data is/ is it checked?	11%
Misuse and selling data to third parties e.g. pharmaceutical companies/ insurance companies/ depends who wants the data	5%
Other	4%

Some examples of the comments provided by Panel members who agreed there are negative consequences to sharing health and care information that has been made anonymous:



Those who answered no or don't know to this question provided the following comments for feeling this way:



Chapter 5: Community health and care services

Introduction

The Scottish Government's vision is that by 2020 everyone will be able to live longer healthier lives at home or in a homely setting. As part of this vision, they aim to strengthen the multi-disciplinary workforce across community health and care services. Doctors will be expected to be involved in providing care for patients with more complex needs, meaning other healthcare professionals will take on new roles to help support patients where it is appropriate for them to do so. Panel members were asked for their opinions on accessing healthcare professionals other than doctors.

Awareness of health and social care professionals available at GP practice

In terms of awareness of the various health and social care professionals which may be available at GP practices, the vast majority of Panel members (97%) said that GP Practice Nurses were available at their practice. Just under 6 in 10 Panel members (59%) said Phlebotomists were available at their GP practice and 37% said that Midwives were available. Services which had the highest proportions stating they were not available at their GP practice included Pharmacists (48%) and Physiotherapists (30%). Panel members were most likely to be unaware of the availability of Health Care Support Workers (67%), Occupational Therapists (64%) and Mental Health Specialist Nurses (63%).

Q13 Please tell us which of these health and social care professionals



Figure 21: Availability of health and social care professionals available at GP practices

NB The first base figure provided in the chart above is the unweighted base, and this is followed by the weighted base.

Willingness to take an appointment with another healthcare professional other than a doctor

Six in ten Panel members (60%) agreed that they would take an appointment with another healthcare professional if they were offered this when phoning their GP practice for an appointment with a doctor. Only 1 in 10 Panel members (10%) said they would not take the appointment and 29% were unsure.



Base: Unweighted, n=480; Weighted, n=481

A total of 368 Panel members provided reasons for their response to this question. Their responses have been coded into common themes and are listed in the table below. Just under 4 in 10 respondents (38%) said that how willing they would be to take another appointment with a healthcare professional other than a doctor would depend on their situation or reasons for requiring an appointment and 18% said it would depend on which healthcare provider they would be seeing and their qualifications. On the other hand, 26% of comments were made by Panel members who said they wouldn't have a problem with this.

Figure 23: Reasons for opinions on willingness to take an appointment with other healthcare professionals other than a doctor (open-ended response themes)

Q14 If you called your GP practice for an appointment with a doctor and you were of appointment with another healthcare professional, would you take it? Please tell us why you feel this way.	fered an
Base: Unweighted, n=386; Weighted, n=372	%
It would depend on my situation/ reason for requiring an appointment/ for my symptoms	38%
I wouldn't have a problem with it/ have confidence in other medical professionals	26%
Would depend which healthcare provider/ they would need to be qualified/ trained/ relevant	18%
If I could be seen quicker/ would cut down waiting times	8%
Only prefer/ expect to see my own doctor	5%
If it needed to be escalated to my GP this would be done	3%
You don't always need to see a doctor/ for minor ailments	2%
Other	3%

Examples of the comments provided by Panel members who agreed they would take an appointment with another healthcare professional if they were offered this when calling their GP practice for an appointment with a doctor are shown below:



The following statements were made by Panel members who said they were unsure or would not take an appointment with another healthcare professional if they were offered this when calling their GP practice for an appointment with a doctor:



Willingness to go directly to other healthcare professionals in the future if happy with treatment received

The vast majority of Panel members (78%) said they would consider going directly to other healthcare professionals if they had been happy with the treatment they received. Only 8% said they would not consider going directly to the other healthcare professional and 14% were unsure.

Figure 24: Willingness to go directly to other healthcare professionals in the future if happy with treatment received



Base: Unweighted, n=477; Weighted, n=479

A total of 292 Panel members provided reasons for their response to this question. Their responses have been coded into common themes and are listed in the table below. Fifty-three per cent of comments were where Panel members would be happy to go directly to other healthcare professionals if they had confidence in the person in question and felt they could help. A further 11% of comments were where Panel members said they would do this to free up GP time. Eleven per cent said it would depend on the member of staff's qualification and experience, 10% said it would depend on what their problem is, and 10% said they would rather go to their GP.

Figure 25: Reasons for opinions on willingness to go directly to other healthcare professionals in the future if happy with treatment received. (open-ended response themes)

Q15 If you were happy with the treatment you received from other healthcare professionals, would you consider going directly to them in the future? Please tell us why you feel this way?

Base: Unweighted, n=292; Weighted, n=290	%
If I have confidence in the healthcare professional/ think they could help/ was happy with them	53%
To free up GP time	11%
As long as they are experienced/ qualified/ relevant	11%
Depends on what the problem is	10%
I would rather go to my GP/ only if GP was unavailable	10%
If could be seen quicker	9%
Other	4%

Some of the comments provided by Panel members who were in agreement that they would go directly to other healthcare professionals in the future if they were happy with the treatment they received are shown below:



On the other hand, the following comments were made where respondents said they were unsure or would not consider going directly to healthcare professionals in the future even where they had received a satisfactory service in the past from healthcare professionals:



Likelihood of accepting an appointment with another health or social care professional if understood more about their role

Three quarters of Panel members (75%) said they would be more likely to accept an appointment with another health or social care professional if they understood more about their role, 8% said they would not be more likely to do this and 16% were unsure.

Figure 26: Likelihood of accepting an appointment with another health or social care professional if understood more about the role



Base: Unweighted, n=472; Weighted, n=473

Respondents who answered no to this question were asked why they felt this way. A total of 29 respondents provided comments to this question and their responses have been coded into common themes and listed in the table below. Of those that responded, 29% said they would only want to see their own GP or a qualified doctor, 25% said they would only be happy if member of staff was professional/qualified and 20% said they would prefer not to see a different individual.

Figure 27: Reasons given for not being more likely to accept an appointment with another health or social care professional if understood more about the role (open-ended response themes)

Q16a Would you be more likely to accept an appointment with another health or professional if you understood more about their role? If no, why not	social care
Base: Unweighted, n=29; Weighted, n=23	%
I would only want to see my GP/ doctor	29%
Only if they are professional/ qualified	25%
Would prefer not to see a different individual	20%
Would want to see GP in first instance	19%
Other reasons	7%

Further information that would be useful in affecting decisions to take an appointment with another health and social care professional

The survey included an open-ended question which asked all Panel members what further information would be useful in affecting their decision to take an appointment with other health and social care professionals. A total of 282 respondents provided comments to this question. The main themes generated from these responses were where Panel members felt it would be useful to have an understanding of other health and social care professionals' skills, expertise or experience (43%), an understanding of their role (28%), or about their qualifications or training (19%).

Q16 What further information would be useful in affecting your decision to take an appointment with other health and social care professionals?				
Base: Unweighted, n=282; Weighted, n=290	%			
An understanding of their skills/ expertise/ experience	43%			
An understanding of their role	28%			
Their qualification/ training on the job	19%			
Waiting time/ accessibility of appointment	6%			
Depends on circumstances	6%			
Nothing - happy to proceed	4%			
Don't know	12%			
Other	2%			

Some of the comments provided by respondents who said other information would be useful in affecting their decision to take an appointment with other health and social care professionals are listed below:



Chapter 6: Receptionists in GP practices

Introduction

GP practice receptionists have an important role in assisting patients and carers to access the most appropriate source of help, advice or information. In order to do this, receptionists may need to ask people some basic questions about why they want to see a GP.

Panel members were asked for their opinions on how comfortable they would feel sharing basic information with their GP practice receptionist about why they need an appointment.

Sharing basic information with GP practice receptionist about reasons for appointment

Over 6 in 10 Panel members (63%) said they would feel very comfortable (19%) or comfortable (44%) sharing some basic information with their GP Practice Receptionist about why they need an appointment. On the other hand, 37% said they would feel uncomfortable (24%) or very uncomfortable (13%) in doing this.



Figure 28: How comfortable Panel members feel sharing basic information with GP Practice Receptionist about reasons for appointment

Base: Unweighted, n=472; Weighted, n=475

All respondents were asked to provide the reasons for their answer. Where respondents were comfortable in speaking to the receptionist about why they needed an appointment, this tended to be where Panel members believed that receptionists can help them get an appointment or direct them to appropriate health professionals (29%) and where they trust the receptionists at their local practice and consider them to be helpful and friendly (14%). On the other hand, reasons for feeling uncomfortable were where Panel members would not want to discuss anything personal (20%), where they felt receptionists were not medically trained (13%) or where they had concerns about confidentiality or the receptionist gossiping (12%).

Figure 29: Reasons given for feeling comfortable/ uncomfortable sharing basic information with GP Practice Receptionist about reasons for appointment (open-ended response themes)

Q17 In general, how comfortable would you feel sharing some basic information with your GP Practice Receptionist, about why you need an appointment? Please tell us why you feel this way?				
Base: Unweighted, n=382; Weighted, n=378	%			
Can help you get an appointment/ save time/ direct you to appropriate health professionals	29%			
Would not want to discuss anything personal	20%			
I trust the receptionists at my practice/ they are helpful/ friendly	14%			
They are not medically trained	13%			
Concerns about confidentiality/ receptionist gossiping	12%			
Would need to be in private/ not in front of other patients	12%			
Receptionists can be rude/ insensitive/ unhelpful	12%			
Depends on circumstances	2%			
Other	1%			

Examples of the comments provided by Panel members who said they would feel comfortable speaking to a GP Receptionist about why they needed an appointment are shown below:



The following comments were made by Panel members who said they would feel uncomfortable speaking to a GP Receptionist about why they needed an appointment.

I am wary of that they would talk about me and if I could trust them.

The receptionist is being used as a triage and this is totally inappropriate. They have no skills to evaluate medical need. This should be done by trained professionals.

Confidentiality, lack of training and open plan counters where there is no privacy.

It would depend on reason to see my GP. Also if feel personally that receptionists, do not require to know why you wish to see GP. They are not medically qualified.

They are at a reception desk and you know when you call, there could be people standing waiting.

Consider it private and don't want to broadcast illness to waiting patients.

Gossip in a small town.

Depending on the issue involved e.g. I think I have chest infection, is ok but anything more personal or intimate I would not feel comfortable with.

Q17 In general, how comfortable would you feel sharing some basic information with your GP Practice Receptionist, about why you need an appointment. Reasons for feeling uncomfortable

> It's none of their business. This happens at my practice at present and it can be humiliating, if they are talking to you about private matters on the phone in front of a queue of patients.

It could be personal or embarrassing. I am a very private person.

Receptionists are way too nosey and ask private questions in front of other patients.

> Sometimes such things are too personal. Health professionals have to commit to confidentiality. Not sure if receptionists are required to do the same.

My answer has veered between comfortable and uncomfortable. When I consider experience with different receptionist/ practices. Receptionists need to be able to reassure the patient, that this is in their best interest and not just to protect the doctor. Receptionist customer care/training is vital. Also important to feel confident that information shared is private - not open to full waiting room.

The receptionist at my practice is downright rude. Also it's in front of other people.

Chapter 7: Local optician services

Introduction

This section of the questionnaire aimed to understand awareness levels and use of the various local optician services available in Scotland.

Awareness of optician services

Firstly, in terms of awareness of local optician services in Scotland, Panel members were most likely to be aware that their local optician can give them advice and treatment on; free eye tests (98%), free eye care prescriptions (88%), blurred or double vision (86%) and headaches when reading or watching television (80%).

On the other hand, respondents were least likely to be aware that their local optician can offer advice and treatment for cysts and styes (49% aware) and if they had something in their eye (57% aware).

Figure 30: Awareness of various local optician services available in Scotland



NB The first base figure provided in the chart above is the unweighted base, and this is followed by the weighted base.

Use of optician services

As a follow up to the previous question, Panel members were provided with the same list of optician services and asked whether they had ever asked an optician for advice or treatment regarding any of these. Use of these services was highest regarding free eye tests (87%) and free eye care prescriptions (55%). On the other hand, very few respondents had asked an optician for advice or treatment regarding cysts and styes (3%), squints in children (6%) or if they had something in their eye (12%).



Figure 31: Use of various local optician services available in Scotland

NB The first base figure provided in the chart above is the unweighted base, and this is followed by the weighted base.

Chapter 8: Next steps

This report will be published and shared widely, but this is only the first step in our improvement process. The sponsors of each set of questions will be asked how they intend to use the feedback to make improvements to health and social care services. The Scottish Health Council will then offer support to services to make improvement plans including how improvement can be described and measured. A further report will then be produced by the Our Voice Project Team to share how the feedback from the Our Voice Citizens' Panel has been considered and led to improvements to Scottish health and social care services. These findings will be shared with Panel members and will be shared more widely with health and social care organisations and professionals.

The information below is an example of how Panel members' responses are being used. From this, it is evident that the views and experiences provided by Panel members are welcomed and are being considered by policy makers and others involved in delivering health and social care services in Scotland.

Impact from 1st Panel survey

Social Care Support

Amongst other information on social care support the panel highlighted that 59% of people get social care information from their GP. This was publicised amongst social care practitioners as most of the effort on ensuring people get accurate information about social care options is put out through other channels. This will help ensure information is better targeted in future.

Pharmacy service and use of medicines

The findings from this section demonstrated that there is work to be done on raising awareness of distinct pharmacists' skills; support for long term conditions; and support for minor conditions. The findings provided insight on how improvements could be made to pharmacy services and service information. Currently an action plan is being developed with the Royal Pharmaceutical Society and key stakeholders in pharmacy provision to develop improvements.

Improving Oral Health

The Panel results to the oral health questions in the first Panel survey have been used by the Scottish Government to help inform an Oral Health Improvement Plan which is due to be published in early 2018. The Panel results were incorporated into the consultation on oral health which showed that there was a need to provide better information on what the NHS provides in the way of dentistry services.

Ongoing impact of the Panel findings

In addition to influencing work of question commissioners, the findings from Panel surveys to date have influenced the work of other health-related services, plans and policies.

Health Literacy Action Plan

Panel results have shown that there is a need to work better with people who have specific health needs in terms of their health literacy. The results influenced some of the Health Literacy Action Plan which was published by the Scottish Government in November 2017. A link to the report is provided below with a specific mention of the Citizens' Panel on page 18.

Making it Easier - a health literacy action plan for Scotland 2017-2025

Appendix 1: Questionnaire

Welcome to Our Voice Citizens' Panel

Welcome again to the Our Voice Citizens' Panel survey.

As a member of the panel, you are part of a group of volunteers who provide public opinions on a range of health and social care issues - helping inform service improvement in Scotland. When taken together, the views panel members provide can reflect the views of the Scottish population.

Linked to this survey is a summary of the key findings from the second Our Voice Citizens' Panel survey. In the second survey, we asked you questions around your relationship with health and social care professionals, and we also asked you some questions about loneliness and the things that you consider to be good and bad with health and social care services locally.

This is the third Our Voice Citizens' Panel survey on Health and Social Care. In this survey, we will ask you questions about:

- the use of Digital Technologies for healthcare improvement
- using and sharing personal health and social care information
- accessing healthcare professionals other than doctors

In addition to these questions, we would also like to ask you a few personal background questions - to make sure our information remains up to date and representative of the Scottish population at large.

As usual, there are no wrong answers to these questions. Please do not use Google to find answers. We are interested in your own experiences and opinions on these issues and how they apply to you.

We are very grateful to you for taking the time to complete this survey. Sharing your views will help us gain a better picture of the opinions of the Scottish public on issues of health and social care.

Data Protection

The information you provide will be used only for the purposes listed above and the Scottish Health Council will comply with its duties and obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998. The views you express in this questionnaire will remain anonymous, and no personal data that identifies you will be published or shared with third parties.

If you would like to complete future surveys online, please provide your email address:

Digital Health and Care

The Scottish Government is developing a new Digital Health and Social Care Strategy for the next five years, which is summarised in the draft vision statement below:

As a citizen of Scotland, I have access to the digital information, tools and services I need to help maintain and improve my health and wellbeing. I expect my health and social care information to be captured electronically, integrated and shared securely to assist service staff and carers that need to see it, and that digital technology and data will be used appropriately and innovatively to help plan and improve services, enable research and economic development, and ultimately improve outcomes for everyone.

We would like to hear your views about the use of digital information and digital health and care technologies. This will help the Scottish Government to understand whether the above draft vision is right, and will inform further discussion during the development of the digital health and social care strategy.

A link to the integrated Digital Health and Social Care Strategy 2017-22 will be provided at the end of this survey.

1. Do you use any of the following digital communication/information devices? (please select all that apply)

Desktop or laptop computer	Wearable technology (e.g. smart watch, Fitbit)		
Mobile phone or smart phone	Other, please state:		
Tablet (iPad or android)			

What are your reasons for using these devices?

2. Do you use any of the following digital communication tools?

	Yes, rarely (three times a month or less)	Yes, occasionally (at least once a week, but less than daily)	Yes, regularly (at least once a day)	No, never
Social media				
Internet (e.g. for shopping, banking, finding information, managing wellbeing, etc)				
Web based communication (e.g. Skype)				
Apps (e.g. banking, shopping, health, etc)				
Email				
Other, please state:				

3. On a scale from 1 to 10: How confident do you feel in using digital communication technology (e.g., the Internet, social media, using tablets, smart phones)?

(1 = not at all confident, confident)							10	= ve	ry					
1		2		3		4		5	6	7	8		9	10

4. Do you think there are any benefits to using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services?

Yes		No
-----	--	----

If Yes, please list these benefits:

5. Do you think there are any disadvantages or difficulties in using digital communication tools and technologies to access health and social care services?



If Yes, please list these difficulties or disadvantages:

6. Do you feel it would be useful to share health and wellbeing information from your devices/apps with your health professionals or care providers?



Please tell us why you feel this way?



7. Thinking about your or your family's experience of health and social care services in Scotland, please indicate whether you have used or are aware of the following services:

	have used in last	are aware but	
	12 months	not used in last 12 months	not aware
Care Information Scotland (online source of care information)			
NHS24 (111 service)			
GP Surgery website for information			
Online appointment booking at your GP practice			
Online repeat prescriptions at your GP practice			
NHS Inform			
Technology Enabled Care (e.g. personal/home alarm)			
Health and wellbeing apps			
Health and wellbeing websites/online support			
Remote monitoring of long- term condition (e.g. blood pressure monitor)			
Video access to services (e.g. via Skype for an outpatient appointment)			
Other, please specify:			

Use of Information: Personal

When you register with a GP practice in Scotland, your personal information is passed to NHS National Services Scotland where it is securely held on the Community Health Index (CHI). This information is used to register you, transfer your medical records between GP practices, make payments to GP practices for medical services provided, and to process and issue medical cards, medical exemption certificates and entitlement cards. We are interested in your views about how this could be developed in the future.

8. Do you think that professionals should - with the appropriate safeguards be able to share your medical information with other health and social care professionals who are involved in your care, in order to support your ongoing healthcare?

Yes	No No	Unsure		
Please tell us	why you feel t	this way?		

9. On a scale from 1 to 10: How much do you trust health and social care professionals in Scotland to manage your information securely to support your care?

(1 = no t trust)	trust at	all,							1	0 =	com	plet	ely	
1		2	3		4	5	6	7		8		9		10
Please te	ell us wh	y you fe	el ti	nis wa	y?									

Use of Information: Research Development

NHS National Services Scotland shares information about you within NHS Scotland to assist in the provision and improvement of NHS services and the health of the public. When they do this, they make sure that the information that identifies you as a person and your health information are kept separate or are made anonymous, removing any details which could identify you as an individual. Health condition and treatment information which could identify you is not used for research purposes unless you have consented to this. Such data and information from the Scottish population can help to highlight where improvements could be made, or identify where resources could be targeted, for example, research into vaccinations, prevalence of different conditions, time intervals between seeing a GP and diagnosis/treatment, etc.

We would like to find out more about your views on the use of health information for research.

10. On a scale of 1 to 10:

How comfortable do you feel about researchers accessing anonymised/depersonalised health and social care information from the Scottish population, in order to support and inform design and delivery of health and care services?



11. In the context of service improvement and public health, do you think there are benefits to sharing health and social care information that has been made anonymous?

Please tell us why you feel this way?	Yes	No No	Unsure		
	e tell us v	why you feel	this way?		

12. In the context of service improvement and public health, do you think there are negative consequences to sharing health and care information that has been made anonymous?

Please tell us why you feel this way?

Community health and care services

The Scottish Government's vision is that by 2020 everyone will be able to live longer healthier lives at home or in a homely setting. As part of this vision, they aim to strengthen the multi-disciplinary workforce across community health and care and GP services. Doctors will be expected to be involved in providing care for more complex patients, meaning other healthcare professionals will take on new roles to help support patients where it is appropriate for them to do so.

We would like to know what you think about accessing healthcare professionals other than doctors.

13. Please tell us which of these health and social care professionals are available at your GP practice? (please select one option per row)

	Available at my GP practice	Unavailable at my GP practice	Unsure of Availability at my GP practice		
Physiotherapist					
Pharmacist					
GP Practice Nurse					
Mental Health Specialist Nurse					
Phlebotomist (collects blood samples)					
Dietician					
Midwife					
Health Care Support worker					
Occupational Therapist					
Podiatrist					
	Other professionals at your GP practice (please specify):				

14. If you called your GP practice for an appointment with a doctor and you were offered an appointment with another healthcare professional, would you take it?

Yes	No No	Unsure	

Please tell us why you feel this way

15. If you were happy with the treatment you received from other healthcare professionals, would you consider going directly to them in the future?

Yes	No No	Unsure		
Please tell us	why you feel	this way?		

16. Would you be more likely to accept an appointment with another health or social care professional if you understood more about their role?

	es No	Unsure		
lf No, why n	not?			

What further information would be useful in affecting your decision to take an appointment with other health and social care professionals?

Receptionists in GP practices

GP Practice Receptionists have an important role in assisting patients and carers to access the most appropriate source of help, advice or information. In order to do this, receptionists may need to ask people some basic questions about why they want to see a GP.

17. In general, how comfortable would you feel sharing some basic information with your GP Practice Receptionist, about why you need an appointment?

	Very Comfortable	Comfortable	Uncomfortable	Very Uncomfortable
Please	tell us why you	feel this way		

Local Optician services

18. We are interested to know about your awareness and use of local optician services. Are you aware that your local optician can give you advice and treatment for the following? (please tick yes or no for each option below).

	Yes	No
Dry, sore, red, watery, sticky or itchy eyes or eyelids		
Squints in Children		
Flashing lights and floaters		
Headaches when reading/watching TV		
Cysts and Styes		
Something in your eye		
Blurred or double vision		
Free eye test		
Free eye care prescription		
19. Have you ever asked an optician for advice or treatment for any of the following? (please tick yes, no or unsure for each option below).

	Yes	No	Unsure
Dry, sore, red, watery, sticky or itchy eyes or eyelids			
Squints in Children			
Flashing lights and floaters			
Headaches when reading/watching TV			
Cysts and Styes			
Something in your eye			
Blurred or double vision			
Free eye test			
Free eye care prescription			

Personal Information Update

We want to make sure that everyone has an equal opportunity to get involved with our work. By completing this section of the form you will help us to understand who we have engaged with and who we have not. We will use the information you provide to compare the profile of people we have involved with that of the Scottish population. All the information you provide is anonymous and no identifiable personal data will be published or shared with any other organisation.

20. Please tell us about yourself, selecting all that apply. Are you a:

User of health and social care services

Carer for someone who uses health and social care services

Worker in health or social care services

21. Which one of the following best describes your gender?

	Male
	Female
	Prefer not to answer
	If you describe your gender with another term, please tell us here:
lf you	use another term, do you consider yourself to be a trans* person?
	Yes No Prefer not to answer

*Trans is an umbrella term to describe people whose gender is not the same as the sex they were assigned at birth.

22. Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation?

Heterosexual / Straight	Prefer not to answer
	If you prefer to use another term,
Gay / Lesbian	please tell us this below
Bi / Bisexual	

23. What is your religion or belief?

None		Buddhist
Church of Scotland		Sikh
Roman Catholic		Jewish
Other Christian		Hindu
Muslim		Prefer not to answer
Other religion, please write in be	low	

24. Do you have a physical or mental health condition or illness lasting or expected to last 12 months or more?

Yes	No No	Unsure	Prefer not to answer

If Yes. Does your condition or illness reduce your ability to carry out day-today activities?

Yes,	Yes,	Not at all	Prefer not to
a lot	a little		answer

Does this condition or illness affect you in any of the following areas?

Vision (e.g. blindness or partial sight)	A long term illness (e.g. cancer, HIV, heart disease or epilepsy)
Hearing (e.g. deafness or partial hearing)	Stamina or breathing or fatigue
Mobility (e.g. walking short distances or climbing stairs)	Social or behavioural (e.g. associated with autism, attention deficit disorder or Aspergers' syndrome)
Dexterity (e.g. lifting or carrying objects, using a keyboard)	None of the above
Learning or understanding or concentrating	Prefer not to answer
Memory	Other (Please specify)
Mental health	

Links

You can visit <u>www.ehealth.nhs.scot</u> to be kept up to date on digital health and social care developments.

You can visit <u>www.ourvoice.scot/citizens-panel</u> to read previous Citizens Panel reports.

You have completed this survey!

Thank you for taking the time to answer this survey.

Appendix 2: Update for Panel members on previous Panel survey

August 2017

OUR

Our Voice Citizens' Panel Second Survey Results

This newsletter summarises the key findings from the second survey undertaken with the Our Voice Citizen's Panel. Within the questionnaire we asked you about your relationships with health and social care professionals to find out if there are ways we can make communicating with them more meaningful for you. We also asked you some questions about loneliness in order to find out how this issue affects people in Scotland and to find out your views on how we could tackle this issue.

In total, 551 Panel members responded to the survey either by post, email or by telephone. This is a response rate of 44%. Thank you!

A good consultation Making decisions to								
What makes a 'good doctor'?	What are the most imp elements of a 'goo consultation' with a do	d	How comfortable do you feel asking a doctor					
	D,		what are my treatment options (92% feel comfortable) what are the risks/ benefits of r					
T Knowledge/ qualifications	Feel listened to/ no being rushed		treat	tment options? feel comfortable)				
2 Good listener 3 Friendly/ approachable	 Clear communication Resolution/ diagno outcome 		how likely c me? (87%	are these to happen to 6 feel comfortable)				
Communication preferences			isolation and oneliness					
How would you prefer to get information about your healthcare needs?	Feelings of loneliness		ain cause of oneliness	What could be done to reduce loneliness?				
Face to face consultation with doctor (82%)	†††††	inte havi	ck of social eractions or ing no one to	Encourage people to socialise (22%)				
Face to face consultation with nurse (46%)	One in 10 often		alk to (41%) Anxiety/ ession/ mental	Groups activities for all ages (22%) Strong community				
Phone consultation (31%)	feel lonely.	h	ealth (18%)	groups (21%)				
What are health/ social care services good at?	What could health/ so services do better		Tł	nank you!				
\odot	\bigcirc			or taking the time to ete the survey.				
 Doing the best they can (30%) Good GP services (29%) Availability of managination of (48%) 	 Availability of appointments (25%) More staff/ resources (15%) Improved mental health 		or to update please contac on 0141 641	To discuss your panel membership or to update any of your details please contact Research Resource on 0141 641 6410 or by email at info@researchresource.co.uk.				
^{©)} appointménts (18%)	Improved mental here Services (11%)							

Appendix 3: Response profile

Our Voice Citizens' Panel - Third Survey Response Analysis and Profile

2nd November 2017

Date	Activity	Description	Number
4th	First email	Distributed	975
September		Bounce back	80
		Total emails delivered	895
8th		Number sent to panel members without email addresses	282
September	First postal survey	Number sent to bounce back Panel members	80
		Total number sent	362
11th	First email reminder	Number sent	732
September		Number Bounce back	0
		Total emails delivered	732
15th September	Additional postal surveys delivered	Number sent to those with email addresses who had not responded	651
3rd		Number sent	659
October	Final email reminder	Number Bounce back	0
		Total emails delivered	659

SURVEY OUTCOMES AS AT 02/11/2017

Emails sent	895
Number of email responses	221 ⁵
Email response rate	25%
Number of postal sent	1013
Number of postal returned	199
Postal response rate	20%
Telephone surveys	76
OVERALL RESPONSE RATE	
Current response	496 ⁶
Current number on Panel	1216 ⁷
Overall response rate	41%

⁵ Includes 5 partial email responses

⁶ 1 respondent removed their ID from the questionnaire

⁷ 22 panel members opted out via email and 19 asked to be removed from the Panel through the telephone survey

		Third Survey						Original Panel			
Gender ⁸	No on Panel	Response	Response rate	% of response	Scottish popn. ⁹	Difference	No. on Panel	% of Panel	Scottish popn.	Difference	
Male	386	178	46%	36%	49%	-13%	414	32%	49%	-17%	
Female	825	316	38%	64%	51%	13%	877	68%	51%	17%	
Prefer not to answer	5	1	20%	0%			5	0%			
Total	1216	495	41%	100%			1296	100%	100%		

		Third Survey							Original Panel			
Physical or mental health condition or illness	No on Panel	Response	Response rate	% of response	Scottish popn. ¹⁰	Difference	No. on Panel	% of Panel	Scottish popn.	Difference		
Yes	460	223	48%	45%	40%	5%	462	36%	40%	-4%		
No	702	254	36%	51%	60%	-9%	782	60%	60%	0%		
Prefer not to say/ Don't know	54	18	33%	4%			50	4%				
Total	1216	495	41%	100%	100%		1294	100%	100%			

			Third	Original Panel						
Tenure	No on Panel	Response	Response rate	% of response	Scottish popn. ¹¹	Difference	No. on Panel	% of Panel	Scottish popn.	Difference
Own	735	366	50%	75%	62%	13%	787	62%	62%	0%
Rent from Council/ HA	283	68	24%	14%	24%	-10%	295	23%	24%	-1%
Private Rent	120	38	32%	8%	14%	-6%	127	10%	14%	-4%
Other	67	18	27%	4%		4%	68	5%		
Total	1205	490	41%	100%	100%		1277	100%	100%	

⁹National Records Scotland - Population Estimates 2014. Table 1

Retrieved from: http://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-

⁸ Panel members could also describe their gender using any other terms. No Panel members took the opportunity to do so.

<u>theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/mid-2014/list-of-tables</u> 07/11/2016 ¹⁰Long term conditions. (December 23, 2015). The Scottish Government. Retrieved from <u>http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Services/Long-Term-Conditions</u> 26/10/2016

¹¹Scotland's Census 2011. Table DC4427SC - Accommodation type by tenure - Households. (2014). National Records of Scotland, Crown copyright. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.scotlandscensus.gov.uk/ods-anlyser/jsf/tableView/tableView.xhtml</u> 26/10/2016

	Third survey								Original Panel				
Age	No on Panel	Response	Response rate	% of response	Scottish popn. ¹²	Difference	No. on Panel	% of Panel	Scottish popn.	Difference			
16-24	105	20	19%	4%	14%	-10%	113	9%	14%	-5%			
25-44	336	102	30%	21%	31%	-10%	357	28%	31%	-3%			
45-64	457	218	48%	45%	33%	12%	486	38%	33%	5%			
65+	302	146	48%	30%	22%	8%	330	25%	22%	3%			
Total	1200	486	41%	100%	100%		1286	100%	100%	0%			

			Third s	Original Panel						
Ethnic group	No on Panel	Response	Response rate	% of response	Scottish popn. ¹³	Difference	No. on Panel	% of Panel	Scottish popn.	Difference
White British/ Irish	1156	469	41%	96%	96%	0%	1240	97%	96%	1%
Other	43	19	44%	4%	4%	0%	43	3%	4%	-1%
Total	1199	488	41%	100%	100%	0%	1283	100%		

			Third	Original Panel						
SIMD Quintile (2012)	No on Panel	Response	Response rate	% of response	Scottish popn.	Difference	No. on Panel	% of Panel	Target	Difference
1	241	55	23%	11%	20%	-9%	254	20%	20%	0%
2	255	94	37%	19%	20%	-1%	271	21%	20%	-1%
3	236	107	45%	22%	20%	2%	248	20%	20%	0%
4	254	120	47%	25%	20%	5%	284	22%	20%	-2%
5	201	109	54%	22%	20%	2%	210	17%	20%	3%
Total	1187	485	41%	100%	100%	0%	1267	100%	100%	0%

¹²National Records Scotland - Population Estimates 2014. Table 2.

Retrieved from: http://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-

theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/mid-2014/list-of-tables 07/11/2016

¹³Scotland's Census 2011. Table DC2101SC - Ethnic group by sex by age. (2014). National Records of Scotland, Crown copyright. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.scotlandscensus.gov.uk/ods-</u> <u>analyser/jsf/tableView/tableView.xhtml</u> 26/10/2016

Local authority			
	No on Panel	Responses	Response rate
Aberdeen City	44	15	34%
Aberdeenshire	45	17	38%
Angus	26	12	46%
Argyll & Bute	31	17	55%
Clackmannanshire	8	7	88%
Dumfries & Galloway	37	17	46%
Dundee City	29	7	24%
East Ayrshire	33	15	45%
East Dunbartonshire	29	12	41%
East Lothian	21	10	48%
East Renfrewshire	45	11	24%
Edinburgh, City of	87	42	48%
Eilean Siar	21	15	71%
Falkirk	27	13	48%
Fife	66	18	27%
Glasgow City	107	39	36%
Highland	54	21	39%
Inverclyde	30	8	27%
Midlothian	28	15	54%
Moray	31	16	52%
North Ayrshire	32	12	38%
North Lanarkshire	69	14	20%
Orkney Islands	15	6	40%
Perth & Kinross	30	12	40%
Renfrewshire	26	11	42%
Scottish Borders	32	18	56%
Shetland Islands	33	22	67%
South Ayrshire	34	15	44%
South Lanarkshire	57	20	35%
Stirling	19	11	58%
West Dunbartonshire	28	12	43%
West Lothian	41	15	37%
#N/A	1	0	0%
Total	1216	495	41%

NHS Board										
	No on Panel	Response	Response Rate							
Ayrshire & Arran	99	42	42%							
Borders	32	18	56%							
Dumfries & Galloway	37	17	46%							
Fife	66	18	27%							
Forth Valley	53	31	58%							
Grampian	120	48	40%							
Greater Glasgow & Clyde	278	98	35%							
Highland	85	38	45%							
Lanarkshire	114	29	25%							
Lothian	177	82	46%							
Orkney	15	6	40%							
Shetland	33	22	67%							
Tayside	85	31	36%							
Western Isles	21	15	71%							
#N/A	1	0	0%							
Total	1216	495	41%							

Weighting survey data

As can be seen in the analysis of the response profile to this survey, different response rates have been achieved for different groups of respondents. For this survey, we received a greater response from females than males and also from older respondents than younger respondents.

In most surveys it will be the case that some **groups are over-represented** in the raw data and **others under-represented**. These mis-representations are usually dealt with by weighting the data.

The idea behind weighting is that:

• Members of sub-groups that are thought to be over- or under-represented in the survey data are each given a weight

- Over-represented groups are given a weight of less than one
- Under-represented groups are given a weight of greater than one

The weight being calculated in such a way that the weighted frequency of groups matches the population.

All survey estimates are calculated using these weights, so that averages become weighted averages, and percentages become weighted percentages, and so on.

Appendix 4: Citizens' Panels

Citizens' Panels are used extensively across local authorities in Scotland, however, the Our Voice Citizens' Panel and Local Authority Citizens' Panels are not directly comparable due to different recruitment methods¹⁴. Although the Our Voice Citizens' Panel is similar to those conducted by local authorities across Scotland, it varies in one significant methodological aspect – that Panel members cannot actively volunteer or petition to 'sign up' to the Our Voice Citizens' Panel. Although a mixed methodology of recruitment practice exists across local authorities, using for example electoral rolls, face-to-face recruitment, issue-based recruitment and, door-to-door recruitment, most local authorities allow Panel members to actively volunteer or 'sign up' rather than be reactively recruited. It is possible that this active interest rather than reactive interest may provide one reason why the Our Voice Citizens' Panels.

Of the 24 local authorities that had Citizens' Panels in 2013, 43% of participants are recruited as volunteers. Although response rate varies widely across these panels from a high of 82% to a low of 28%, 44% of panels retrieve an average 40-60% response¹⁵. A review of Citizens' Panels run by local authorities conducted by Rolfe, (2012)¹⁶ noted that the majority of Panels have proportionately fewer younger people than the wider population. The Our Voice Panel, has experienced similar difficulties in recruiting and encouraging response of younger Panel members. More surprisingly, over half of the local authority Panels reported in Rolfe's review also had lower than proportional representation of older people, suggesting that a truly representative Panel is difficult to achieve and sustain.

It is usual to experience attrition of Panel members. Eighty Panel members have actively chosen to remove themselves from the Panel between the first and third survey cycle. It has been argued that citizens are only interested in participating in Panels when their views have a tangible impact on service delivery. To this end, it has been noted that local authority Citizens' Panels have to continually demonstrate the impact that Panel members have on service delivery. Due to the high level and national nature of the Our Voice Citizens' Panel, the process of demonstrating the impact of Panel members' views on local service change and delivery is often slow. It is possible that this has contributed to attrition rates. Some of the Panel members who have requested to be removed from the Panel have fed back that the Panel is not what they thought it was and without the opportunity to provide feedback on their own local health and social care services, they do not wish to participate in the Panel on an ongoing basis.

Discussion is underway to address these challenges, in the meantime, the Our Voice Citizens' Panel remains robust with statistically significant findings at national level.

¹⁴ http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/research/Consultation%20Report%20Aug%2014.pdf

¹⁵ <u>http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/research/Consultation%20Report%20Aug%2014.pdf</u>

¹⁶ **Steve Rolfe. 2012.** More than ticking boxes. An exploration of the representativeness of Citizens Panels in Scotland. *MSc in Applied Social Research. University of Stirling, 2012*

Appendix 5: Interpreting results

The results of the research are based upon a sample survey therefore all figures quoted are estimates rather than precise percentages. The reader should interpret the data with statistical significance in mind.

All tables have a descriptive and numerical base, showing the population or population subgroup examined in it. While all results have been calculated using weighted data, the bases shown give both the unweighted and weighted counts.

In some tables and charts, differences between subgroups have been noted because they are interesting, however, not all differences are statistically significant. Where the unweighted base on which percentages are calculated is less than 50 or close to 50, they should be treated with caution, as even though these estimates have been published, they are subject to high levels of volatility and have a high degree of uncertainty around them.

All proportions produced in a survey have a degree of error associated with them because they are generated from a sample of the population rather than the population as a whole. Any proportion measured in the survey has an associated confidence interval (within which the 'true' proportion of the whole population is likely to lie), usually expressed as $\pm x\%$. It is possible with any survey that the sample achieved produces estimates that are outside this range. The number of times out of 100 surveys when the result achieved would lie within the confidence interval is also quoted; conventionally the level set is 95 out of 100, or 95%. Technically, all results should be quoted in this way. However, it is less cumbersome to simply report the percentage as a single percentage, the convention adopted in this report.

Where sample sizes are small or comparisons are made between subgroups of the sample, the sampling error needs to be taken into account. There are formulae to calculate whether differences are statistically significant (i.e. they are unlikely to have occurred by chance) and the table below provides a simple way to estimate if differences are significant.

						Sub	-group 🗄	Size			
		50	75	100	150	200	250	300	400	500	617
of	5%	6.9%	5.7%	4.9%	4.0%	3.5%	3.1%	2.8%	2.1%	2.2%	1.7
e	10%	9.6%	7.8%	6.8%	5.5%	4.8%	4.3%	3.9%	2.9%	3.0%	2.4
multiple	15%	11.4%	9.3%	8.0%	6.6%	5.7%	5.1%	4.6%	3.5%	3.6%	2.8
Inu	20%	12.8%	10.4%	9.0%	7.4%	6.4%	5.7%	5.2%	3.9%	4.0%	3.2
	25%	13.8%	11.3%	9.8%	8.0%	6.9%	6.2%	5.6%	4.2%	4.4%	3.4
nearest	30%	14.6%	11.9%	10.3%	8.4%	7.3%	6.5%	6.0%	4.5%	4.6%	3.6
eal	35%	15.2%	12.4%	10.8%	8.8%	7.6%	6.8%	6.2%	4.7%	4.8%	3.8
	40%	15.6%	12.8%	11.0%	9.0%	7.8%	7.0%	6.4%	4.8%	4.9%	3.9
) to	45%	15.9%	12.9%	11.2%	9.2%	7.9%	7.1%	6.5%	4.9%	5.0%	3.9
kup 5%)	50%	15.9%	13.0%	11.3%	9.2%	8.0%	7.1%	6.5%	4.9%	5.0%	4.0%
(lookup 5%)	55%	15.9%	12.9%	11.2%	9.2%	7.9%	7.1%	6.5%	4.9%	5.0%	3.9
(Ic	60%	15.6%	12.8%	11.0%	9.0%	7.8%	7.0%	6.4%	4.8%	4.9%	3.9
ate	65%	15.2%	12.4%	10.8%	8.8%	7.6%	6.8%	6.2%	4.7%	4.8%	3.8
stimate	70%	14.6%	11.9%	10.3%	8.4%	7.3%	6.5%	6.0%	4.5%	4.6%	3.6
sti	75%	13.8%	11.3%	9.8%	8.0%	6.9%	6.2%	5.6%	4.2%	4.4%	3.4
ш	80%	12.8%	10.4%	9.0%	7.4%	6.4%	5.7%	5.2%	3.4%	4.0%	3.2
ple	85%	11.4%	9.3%	8.0%	6.6%	5.7%	5.1%	4.6%	3.5%	3.6%	2.8
Sample	90%	9.6%	7.8%	6.8%	5.5%	4.8%	4.3%	3.9%	2.9%	3.0%	2.4
Š	95%	6.9%	5.7%	4.9%	4.0%	3.5%	3.1%	2.8%	2.1%	2.2%	1.7

Below is a worked example which explains how to interpret results presented in the gender analysis tables.

The percentage of respondents who felt very comfortable sharing some basic information with their GP Practice Receptionist was 15% for female respondents and 24% for male respondents. At face value, these values seem to differ significantly. However, because this figure is based upon a sample we need to calculate confidence intervals to determine where the true value of the population lies.

Using the statistical significance table above to find the 95% confidence intervals for each value, we can see that for females (with a base of 297) the lower limit of the 95% confidence interval is 10.4% and the upper limit is 19.6%. For males (with a base of 175) the lower limit is 16% and the upper limit is 32%.

Looking at the intervals for the two together we can see that the upper limit for females does overlap with the lower limit for males. This means that the difference observed between these two groups for this variable is not statistically significant and, therefore, should be read with caution.

You can read and download this document from our website. We can also provide this information:

- by email
- in large print
- on audio tape or cd
- in Braille, and
- in other languages

يمكنك قراءة وتنزيل هذا المستند من موقعنا الإلكتروني. ويمكننا أيضاً أن نقدم لك هذه المعلومات:

- بالبريد الإلكتروني
 بخط كبير
 على شريط صوتي أو قرص مدمج (cd)
 بلغة بريل
 بلغات أخرى

আগনি আমাদের ওরেবসাইট থেকে এই দলিল পড়তে ও ডাউনলোড করতে পারেন, তাহাড়া আমরা এই তথ্য :

- ইমেলে
- বড হরকে
- অডিও টেগ বা সিডি-তে
- ব্রেইলে, এবং
- অন্যান্য ভাষাতেও জ্ঞানাতে পারি

Vous pouvez lire et télécharger ce document sur notre site web. Nous pouvons également vous fournir ces informations :

- par courrier électronique
- en gros caractères
- sur cassette ou CD audio
- en Braille
- et dans d'autres langues

Faodaidh tu am pàipear seo a leughadh agus a luchdachadh a-nuas bhon làrach-lìn againn. Bheir sinn an fhiosrachadh seo seachad cuideachd:

- Ann am post-dealain
- Ann an sgrìobhadh mòr
- Air teap claisneachd no cd
- Ann am Braille, agus
- Ann an cànanan eile

आप इस दस्तावेज को हमारी वेबसाईट से पढ़ और डाउनलोड कर सकते हैं। हम इस जानकारी को निम्न माध्यम से भी प्रदान कर सकते हैं:

- ई–मेल द्वारा
- बड़े प्रिंट में
- ऑडियो टेप अथवा सीडी में
- ब्रेल लिपि में, और
- अन्य भाषाओं में

Šį dokumentą galite skaityti ir atsisiųsti iš mūsų tinklavietės. Šią informaciją taip pat teikiame:

- el. paštu;
- stambiu šriftu;
- garsajuoste arba kompaktiniu disku;
- Brailio raštu ir
- kitomis kalbomis.

Dostęp do tego dokumentu, a także możliwość jego pobrania, można uzyskać na naszej witrynie internetowej. Informacje można również otrzymać w następujących postaciach:

- wiadomość e-mail
- wydruk z dużą czcionką
- kaseta audio lub płyta CD
- zapis alfabetem Braille'a
- zapis w innym języku

Вы можете прочитать и загрузить этот документ с нашего веб-сайта. Информация также предоставляется следующим образом:

- по электронной почте
- крупным шрифтом
- на аудиокассете и компакт-диске
- шрифтом Брайля и
- на других языках

您可從我們的網站閱讀及下載本文件。我們亦透過以下方式提供此資訊:

- 電子郵件
- 大版面印刷
- 語音磁帶或 cd
- 盲文,以及
- 其他語言版本

آپ ہماری ویب سائٹ پر اس دستاویز کو پڑھ اور ڈاؤن لوڈ کرسکتے ہیں۔ ہم یہ معلومات درج ذیل کے ذریعہ بھی فراہم کرسکتے ہیں:

- بذریعہ ای میل
- چھاپے کے بڑے حروف میں
 آڈیو ٹیپ یا سی ڈی کی شکل میں
 - بریل میں ، اور
 - دیگر زبانوں میں



The Scottish Health Council has a national office in Glasgow and a local office in each NHS Board area. To find details of your nearest local office, visit our website at: www.scottishhealthcouncil.org/contact/local_offices.aspx





making sure your voice counts

www.scottishhealthcouncil.org

Scottish Health Council National Office: Delta House | 50 West Nile Street | Glasgow | G1 2NP Telephone: 0141 241 6308 Email: enquiries@scottishhealthcouncil.org

The Scottish Health Council is part of Healthcare Improvement Scotland